
Early History of 
Olympia Country and Golf Club, Olympia, WA 

Established May 21, 1914; Course Relocated 1926; Second Nine Completed 1958 
Course Architects: 1914: Willie Leith and R. W. Ball; 1926: Walter Fovargue; 1958: Unknown 

  
While the signs at the Olympia Country and Golf Club in Olympia, Washington indicate the Club was 
established in 1926, the roots of golf in Olympia go back more than a quarter century earlier.   
 

 
Olympia Country and Golf Club – circa 1926 (Courtesy of Washington State Historical Society) 

 
There were six golf clubs in Washington State by the end of the 19th century.  Tacoma Golf Club (1894), 
Country Club of Seattle (1896), Seattle Golf Club (1896), Spokane Country Club (1898), Walla Walla Golf 
Club (1898), and Olympia Golf Club (1899) were the pioneering clubs. 
 
The 1899 course was located in Maple Park near what is now the State Capitol Campus.  The April 23, 
1899 issue of the Morning Olympian described the organization thus:  “Olympia has a Golf Club … the 
first of its kind ever organized in Olympia.  The links are in Maple Park, and the members have had them 
put in first class condition.  Much enthusiasm is shown among its members. “ 
 

 
 
Harper’s Official Golf Guide 1901 
 

Membership totaled 25.  Accounts of their activities are scarce, and while they may have been an 
enthusiastic group, it was too few to sustain itself for long.  Forced to abandon its course due to 
construction of new buildings on its site, the Club appears to have lasted only a couple of years.  Some in 
this group made another attempt in 1904 when they tried to develop a six-hole course near the original 
site, but this effort too failed.  Golf seems to have remained dormant in Olympia for the next ten years. 
 



Then in 1914, following the U. S. Open win by Francis Ouimet at Brookline the previous fall, a resurgence 
in golf took place all across the country, including Olympia.  A group of men and women met several 
times in early 1914 to organize the new Olympia Golf and Country Club.  On May 21, 1914 the club 
organized itself with a charter membership of 93 which read like the Who’s Who of State government:   
included were Governor Ernest Lister, Secretary of State Ithamar Howell, Assistant Attorney General Roy 
Campbell and eight Supreme Court Justices.  George W. Draham, a prominent businessman, was named 
the temporary President of the Club. 
 
The Club secured a 160 acre tract of farm land on Chambers Prairie bordering Chambers Lake near 
Lacey.  They hired Willie Leith, Scottish golf professional at Tacoma Country and Golf Club and his 
brother Sandy Leith as part-time instructors.   
 
A month later, the club hired its first full-time golf professional in Ray W. Ball.  Ball grew up in Seattle 
and served as caddie under Robert Johnstone, the club professional at the Seattle Golf Club.  Prior to 
coming to Olympia, Ball had helped his father John Ball in the construction of the Grays Harbor Country 
Club, where the younger Ball served as its first golf professional in 1913.  He would later return to 
Olympia to help his father construct the Olympia Country and Golf Club course at its current location.   
 
In short order Willie Leith and R. W. Ball laid out a rudimentary nine-hole course, and on June 28, 1914, 
mere five weeks after the founding of the Club, the course was formally opened.  “The golf fever has hit 
a number of members hard and they are taking advantage of every opportunity to take a spin out to the 
links and go a round.”  Nearly all were novice players. 
 
This was truly pasture golf.  As seen in this tongue in cheek account, sheep, goats, and cows helped 
maintain the course, and the players encountered rules questions not normally encountered today: 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Morning Olympian April 9, 1915  



 
 
On July 20, 1914 the golf professional R. W. Ball played the first official match of the Olympia Golf and 
Country Club against amateur Assistant Attorney General Roy Campbell, a member who had relocated 
from the Midwest and knew something about the game.  Attended by a large throng of spectators, 
Campbell defeated Ball, described as “3 up”.  Campbell shot 84 to Ball’s 87 for two loops around the 
nine hole course. 
 
As was common at the time, inter-club (“home and away”) matches were quite popular.  In the early 
days of the Club, matches were played against the Lochburn Golf Club and Lakeside Golf Club, both in 
Tacoma and both now defunct as well as the Meadow Park Golf Club.  Later, matches were arranged 
with clubs from Chehalis, Centralia, and Aberdeen.  
 
Intra-club matches were also popular, and fierce, if not good-humored, rivalries developed.  Here the 
Washington State Office of the Auditor issued a challenge to the Office of the Attorney General in a 
manner which could only have been written by accountants and lawyers: 
 
 

 
Morning Olympian July 14, 1917  
 



The challenge was promptly accepted: 
 

 
Morning Olympian July 15, 1917  
 
 
By 1915, the lease on the Chambers property in Lacey was scheduled to expire.  In addition, the Club 
struggled to maintain its membership.  While they had a Golf Club, they were still missing the Country in 
Olympia Golf and Country Club and realized they needed to offer more than just golf to attract new 



members.  They made an effort to find new land, but in the end, renegotiated the lease with an option 
to buy.  In May, 1917, they did just that, but first they needed to establish themselves as a legal entity.  
Thus on March 30, 1917, the Olympia Golf and Country Club was formally incorporated.  
 
From 1915 to 1919, the Club rebuilt its nine-hole course and improved its clubhouse operations.  The 
club also undertook several membership drives.  Men would pay a $10 initiation fee with $1 monthly 
dues, and unmarried women would pay $5 initiation and 50 cent dues.  But America was at war in 
Europe, and attention was drawn to war efforts at home rather than country club activities.  
 
All that changed in 1920.  First, the war was over and men and women found more leisure time.  
Secondly, the Club elected Clarence J. Lord as its President.   Lord, a wealthy banker and a dynamic 
leader, led a resurgence in the Club.  In what was to presage the Club’s move to its new location in 1926, 
Lord offered to donate the land on Tykles Cove in April, 1920.  However, the Club declined his offer as 
they saw it as too great a financial burden to relocate the club at that time.   
 
Nevertheless, Lord spent considerable amount of his own money to renovate the clubhouse and in 
other ways improve the operations of the Club.  He also had a vision to relocate the course to a new 
location as he is quoted in the December 31, 1920 issue of the Morning Olympian: 
 

Someday we are going to have a club down the bay on a large tract of nearly 200 acres 
which I have promised to donate when the time is ripe.  It is the ideal location for the 
club which ours will someday grow to be, on the shores where yachting and motor 
boating can join with pleasures on the green.  This will make our Olympia club one to 
draw people from all quarters to visit …. From these beginnings the accomplishments I 
see ahead will develop, possibly in five years time, but if not by then, certainly not long 
after. 

 
That vision began to be realized when the club purchased a 396 acre property for $37,075 at Butler’s 
Cove in March, 1924.  Two years later, a nine-hole course would be opened for play, just as Lord 
foresaw. 
 
The club sold off the property at the old course in Lacey in 1925.  The old site was turned into a 
municipal course and became the Mountain View Golf Course. This course operated until 1963 when it 
was sold to developers to later become the Panorama City retirement community. 
 
Olympia Country and Golf Club then hired Walter G. Fovargue (1882 – 1963) as its golf architect to lay 
out the new course.  Fovargue grew up in Ohio and became a golf professional at the age of 17, one of 
the first American born golf professionals when virtually all the golf professionals in America in 1900 
were Scots or Englishmen.  Fovargue was one of original founders of the Professional Golfers Association 
(PGA) in 1916. He played in eleven U. S. Opens with his best finishes in 1906 and 1916 when he finished 
13th. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Forvague later gave up his professional status 
and eventually ended up in Aberdeen, 
Washington where he accepted a job offered by 
W. J. Patterson, an influential businessman and 
president of the Pacific Northwest Golf 
Association, managing a fuel company.  He 
joined the Grays Harbor Country Club, and as an 
amateur, Fovargue competed in many 
tournaments, winning the Northwest Open in 
1917.  He was also involved in golf architecture 
and his Northwest designs include Olympia 
Country and Golf Club, Willapa Harbor Golf 
Course, Oaksridge Golf Course in Elma, as well 
as the redesign of the Grays Harbor Country 
Club.  
 

 
 
“Carved out of a forest,” as pronounced by the Seattle Times, Olympia Golf and Country Club’s new 
nine-hole course and clubhouse at Butler’s Cove formally opened on May 15, 1926.  George Draham, the 
first president of the Club at its founding in 1914, was again elected President of the Club at its new 
location.   Clarence J. Lord, whose vision five years earlier had now been realized, was a Trustee.  
Membership stood at 163. 
 

 
Olympia Golf and Country Club – circa 1926 (Courtesy of Washington State Historical Society) 
 



 
Olympia Country and Golf Club Clubhouse – circa 1926 (Courtesy of Washington State historical Society) 
 
 

 
The American Annual golf Guide 1926 
 

In 1958, a second nine was added to make it a full 18 holes course.  Over the years the Club has hosted 
many significant tournaments and was visited by many golfing greats, including Byron Nelson, who shot 
a course record 59 on one of his visits. 
 
 
Written by Martin Pool 
June, 2015 
fas1863@hotmail.com 
www.nwhickoryplayers.org 


